2009

John Duran v. Utah Department of Technology Services, an agency of the State of Utah, and Utah Career Service Review Board : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner John Duran seeks review of a decision by the Utah Career Service Review Board entered March 4th, 2009 (Addendum at Attachment).

JURISDICTION

By this Petition, Petitioner seeks review of orders issued by the Utah Career Service Review Board ("CSRB"), an administrative body created under Utah Code Annotated Section 67-19a-201. The CSRB ruling followed a formal adjudicative proceeding, upholding Mr. Durans's termination from his employment as a Technology Specialist with the Utah Department of Technology Services. Jurisdiction obtains pursuant to Utah Code Annotated Section 78A-4-103(2)(a).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Whether the Utah Career Services Review Board correctly ruled that Res Judicata was not a bar to considering allegations, warnings, and discipline predicated on the same facts addressed in an earlier Order Dismissing Appeal of The Career Services Review Board, dated June 21, 2003.
2. Whether the action taken Utah Career Services Review Board was supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole

record before the court.

3. Whether by adopting as correct the Step 5 hearing officer's misstatements, mischaracterization, and misapprehension of the facts in this case, the Utah Career Services Review Board was incorrect, in that they were arbitrary or capricious in upholding the hearing officer's decision.

The standard of review for Issues 1 is that conclusions of law are reviewed by Utah appellate courts under a correction of error standard granting no deference to legal conclusions. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah 1994); State v. Wanosik, 2001 UT App 241¶ 31 P.3d 615.

The standard of review for Issue 2 and 3 is the same. "To successfully challenge findings of fact, an appellant must prove they are clearly erroneous, i.e. that the findings are against the clear weight of the evidence. Deference to the trial court findings can only be extended when the trial court's factual findings adequately reveal the steps by which the ultimate conclusion is reached." State v. Ramirez, 817 P.2d 774 (Utah 1991); State v. Genovesi, 871 P.2d 547 (Utah Ct. App. 1993).

DETERMINATIVE CASE LAW AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

1. State Statutory and Administrative Provisions

Utah Code Ann. §63G-4-403(g)
Utah Rules of Administrative Procedure 477-11-3
Utah Rules of Administrative Procedure 477-7-17(3)(a)

2. Federal Case Law

United States v. Utah Constr. & Mining Co., 384 U.S. 394 (1996)

3. State Case Law

Stevenson v. Goodson, 924 P.2d 339 (Utah 1996)
Salt Lake City Citizens Congress v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co.,
846 P.2d 1245 (Utah 1992)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 7, 2007, Mr. Duran was given a notice of the Department's intent to dismiss him from employment . On July 11, 2007, Mr. Duran filed a timely appeal of the Department's Final Decision terminating his employment. On April 3-4, 2008, a Step 5 evidentiary hearing was conducted. On May 2nd, 2008 the Step 5 hearing officer issued a denial of the appeal. Mr. Duran made a timely appeal to the Career Services Review Board which on December 17, 20008 held an evidentiary hearing on the appeal. On March 4, 2009, the Board issued a decision upholding the lower Step 5 decision regarding

Mr. Duran's termination. On November 9, 2009, Mr. Duran made a timely appeal to this court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Finding of Fact #1:

Grievant was a career service employee with the State and qualifies to use these Grievance and Appeal Procedures.

Finding of Fact #2:

Grievant was hired by DWS in 2000 as a Technology aka IT Specialist to assist that department with its technology needs. Grievant had a criminal history and clearly disclosed this information to DWS prior to being hired.

Finding of Fact #3:

Sometime thereafter in 2005, Grievant transitioned from DWS to a newly created agency, DTS.

Finding of Fact #4:

Grievant's office was next to the women's bathroom in the DWS Woods Cross office.

Finding of Fact #5:

Early on in Grievant's employment, James (Jim) Matsumura wrote a Letter of Concern dated September 25, 2000, which Grievant acknowledged receiving on October. 18,

2000. The letter addressed Grievant's "language and content of your communication with other employees at DWS." It referenced Grievant discussing his "life experiences . . . that might be construed as intimidating and threatening" and further stated that "comments about criminal behavior ... can be deemed offensive and/or create an atmosphere of intimidation which is inappropriate in the workplace. " (Ex. A-7)

Finding of Fact #6:

On January 29, 2003, DWS issued an *Intent to Reprimand* letter. On March 28, 2003, DWS issued a *Letter of Reprimand*. Neither of these documents were considered nor admitted into evidence on the basis that Grievant had appealed the intended discipline and thereafter, on June 6, 2003, DWS filed a motion for withdrawal (*Motion to Vacate Written Reprimand and Dismissal Before the CSRB*). On June 12, 2003, the CSRB dismissed Grievant's appeal (*Order Dismissing Appeal*) thereby vacating the intended disciplinary action in Case No. 22 CSRB/H.O. 317.

Finding of Fact #7:

The intended January 29 and March 28, 2003 disciplinary actions were properly removed from Grievant personnel file pursuant to the provisions in *Utah Code Ann. § 67-19a-303(4)(c)*.

Substantial Evidence Contrary to This Finding:

The intended January 29 and March 28, 2003 disciplinary action in fact was **not**

removed from the Grievant's disciplinary file, contrary to the provisions of U.C.A. 67-19a-303(4)(c), as evidenced by the provision of the record of the action provided by the Agency in discovery to the Grievant.

Finding of Fact #8:

On April 1, 2003, Grievant acknowledged receiving a *Corrective Action Plan* dated March 25, 2003. The CAP outlined five major areas of concern: (1) customer service; (2) proper use of time, prioritizing work, and completion of work; (3) improvement of team building and team work skills; (4) proper professional behavior in the workplace with regard to creating a positive work environment which means ... avoid[ing] any intimidating conversation, behavior and conduct; and (5) accurate reporting of time and attendance. (Ex. A-8)

Finding of Fact #9:

Section 4 of the CAP stated in pertinent part:

Proper professional behavior in the workplace with regard to creating a positive work environment which means you must avoid intimidating conversation, behavior, and conduct which could lead to violation of Department policies on harassment, hostile workplace issues. Care and concern about your speech and behavior will enhance the professional

climate of the work place and instill in others trust and comfort with your work efforts.

- 1) You are not to discuss your criminal history, encounters with law enforcement, and involvement in any criminal behavior with individuals at work or in the presence of other staff, DWS employees, vendors, clients, or business partners. You are not to have any communication with DWS customers or clients who may be in the office for business or services.
- 2) You are to arrange with HR to take and complete by the end of month two of your corrective action period department training on prevention of unlawful harassment.

Finding of Fact #10:

On May 9, 2003, Jim Matsumura issued a *Letter of Warning* outlining issues relating to Grievant's time and attendance problems. No concerns were expressed over Grievant's inappropriate conduct with female employees.

Finding of Fact #11:

In a memo dated October 15, 2003 to Grievant, Jim Matsumura informed Grievant that he had successfully completed his CAP.

Finding of Fact #12:

On April 1, 2004, Jim Matsumura issued a *Letter of Warning* to Grievant who, while acknowledging receipt of the document, indicated that he denied the allegations. (Ex. A-12) The *Letter of Warning* outlined previous concerns regarding time and attendance problems as well as inappropriate conduct.

Finding of Fact #13:

On February 6, 2006, James Howard drafted and discussed with Grievant a document referred to as a "complaint" or a "verbal complaint" outlining various concerns about Grievant's behavior, including but not limited to "service requests are not addressed timely, sleeping while at work, a lack of approachability and a lack of communication." No concerns were expressed over Grievant's inappropriate conduct with female employees.

Finding of Fact #14:

On February 9, 2006, James Howard issued a *Letter of Warning* which Grievant acknowledged receiving on the same date. The *Letter of Warning* outlines concerns regarding Grievant's conduct two days earlier, i.e., taking long breaks and lunches, napping and poor customer service response. No concerns were expressed over Grievant's inappropriate conduct with female employees.

Finding of Fact #15:

On May 18, 2006, James Howard issued a *Letter of Intent to Discipline* which Grievant acknowledged receiving the following day. The *Letter of Intent to Discipline* primarily addressed the types of issues Grievant was notified about in February, i.e., sleeping on the job. No concerns were expressed over Grievant's inappropriate conduct with female employees.

Finding of Fact #16:

On June 1, 2006, James Howard issued a *Letter of Reprimand* which Grievant acknowledged receiving the following day. The *Letter of Reprimand* was for "displaying unprofessional behavior as discussed in the letter of intent, including sleeping during work time." No concerns were expressed over Grievant's inappropriate conduct with female employees.

Finding of Fact #17:

On June 7, 2007, Jim Matsumura issued an *Intent to Dismiss* (Intent to Dismiss) letter recommending to the Agency's Executive Director that Grievant be terminated. (Ex. A-13). The letter summarized allegations raised in an investigation indicative of a "pattern of inappropriate behavior" and "unlawful and workplace harassment of four [DWS] female employees." There were four sets of employee complaints set forth in the letter, but only three of the complainants testified at the Step 5 hearing.

Finding of Fact #18:

Allegations contained in the complaint by the female employee who did not testify in the Step 5 evidentiary hearing were not considered by the Hearing Officer in reaching this Decision.

Finding of Fact #19:

Agency allegations of misconduct relating to Complainant #1(JoAnna Gomberg) raised during the investigation and cited in the Intent to Dismiss in pertinent part were:

"Asked her about 30 times to have lunch with you in the first eight months of her employment ... although she rejected your advances on each occasion ... continually asked her personal questions such as how many men she had slept with, threatened to set up a spy system at her home . . . resulting in her having to change her residence and told her that you like your women to have some meat on them, with reference to her anatomy."

Substantial Evidence Contrary to This Finding:

The first three State's witnesses are labeled "Complainant #1, #2 & # 4, when in fact none of them filed complaints, and all three repeatedly testified that they did not wish to file complaints. This description of the witnesses is inaccurate and misleading. It was Human Resources that contacted the witnesses. See for example Page 137, lines 2 through 7.

Although Grievant concedes that these allegations were recited in the Intent to

Dismiss, it is important to note that nowhere in Ms. Gomberg's testimony at the Level 5 hearing was there any reference to her to having to change her residence as a result of the Grievant's statement that he could set up a spy camera in her house. Ms. Gomberg never testified that she felt threatened, and the comment was not of the type to be inherently threatening, particularly within the context of merely showing Ms. Gomberg the camera at his desk and asking her first if she knew anyone he could spy on. See Ms. Gomberg's testimony at page 33, line 22 through page 34 line 2. Although the Grievant's awkward attempt at humor may have made Ms. Gomberg uncomfortable, there was nothing inherently threatening about it.

Similarly, the Grievant's questions regarding the number of boy friends Ms. Gomberg had in the past would perhaps not qualify as traditional workplace banter, and may not have been artfully phrased, but again, nowhere is there in the record "continues questions regarding how many men Ms. Gomberg had slept with.

Finding of Fact #20:

Agency allegations of misconduct relating to Complainant #2 (Monica Hulbert) raised during the investigation and cited in the Intent to Dismiss in pertinent part were: "On or about her fourth day at work ... you asked her for personal information, including her boy friend, her marital status, and the father of her child; pressed her for lunch dates several times and on each occasion she rejected your advances; asked her to have coffee with you several

times ... and she rejected your advances; followed her into the break room and requested that she massage your leg."

Substantial Evidence Contrary to This Finding:

In Ms. Hulbert's testimony at the Level 5 Hearing she stated that the question about children, family, and marital status were "normal talking stuff." See page 112, Lines 8 through 12 & page 141, Lines 9 through 14. It was also Ms. Hulbert's testimony that the Grievant's questions regarding the father of her child made her feel no more than "a little awkward". See page 142, Lines 4 through 10, and "a little personal in that area" see page 112, Lines 16 through 22. These are not "facts" that have any bearing on a charge of harassment. Similarly, simply asking a coworker to share lunch or a coffee break does not support an accusation of harassment.

Finding of Fact #21:

Agency allegations of misconduct relating to Complainant # 4 (Lindsay Neilson) raised during the investigation and cited in the Intent to Dismiss in pertinent part were:

"Ogled her almost every working day in the first month of her employment and continually asked her to drive her car; told her because she was nice, you would take her to lunch and she refused ... you continued to ask her out to lunch; you teased her about her sweater ... told her that she belonged in the Barbie section ... touched her lower back that was uncovered she was shocked by your behavior and decided to avoid all interactions with you

including not asking you for technical assistance ..."

Substantial Evidence Contrary to This Finding:

Ms. Nielson stated both under direct and cross examination that when the Grievant touched her back to indicate where the sweater ended that there was another shirt covering her back. See Page 174, Lines 1 – 10. Grievant concedes Ms. Neilson avoided asking for technical assistance, but at the Level 5 Hearing there was testimony only one incident of any of the Agency's witnesses actually receiving computer assistance from anyone other than the Grievant.

Finding of Fact #22:

The Intent to Dismiss stated that after considering the discretionary factors articulated in Utah Rules of Administrative Procedure 477-11-3, Grievant was being terminated for: "noncompliance with and for violation of Utah Rules of Administrative Procedure 477-9-1(1)(a)(ii), Utah Rules of Administrative Procedure 477-11-1(a), Utah Rules of Administrative Procedure 477-11-1(c), Utah Rules of Administrative Procedure 477-11-1(e), Department of Technology Services (DTS) Policy Code of Conduct, Section 1.2.1.2.1.1, Section 1.2.1.2.1.2, Section 1.2.1.3.2.4, for failure to maintain agency professional standards, for failure to advance the good of the public service, and for just cause."

Finding of Fact #23:

On July 10, 2007, J. Stephen Fletcher, DTS Chief Information Officer and Executive Director, issued the *Final Decision - Dismissal for Cause* (Final Decision). (Ex. A-14) The Final Decision stated that Grievant was being dismissed based on the following: "On March 6, 2007, the Department received a complaint from several employees who work for the Department of Workforce Services. The complaint included allegations of unlawful harassment and work place harassment ... [t]he specific allegations and the Department's recommendation for termination, are outlined in the letter of intent issued to you on June 7, 2007. These allegations are violations of work place policies, rules, procedures, or standards." The Final Decision referenced the rules and policies stated in the Intent to Dismiss.

Finding of Fact #24:

Grievant asked JoAnna Gomberg (Ms. Gomberg) to go to lunch, coffee and doughnuts numerous times despite being told "no" every single time. He gave Ms. Gomberg an "up and down stare" on a regular basis and told her such things as "you really dress good" and "I like a woman with a little meat on her." He repeatedly asked her inappropriate and personal questions about her boyfriend and other matters of personal intimacy. He told her that he had been in jail and that he had tough friends and gang friends. He told her about other women in the department with whom he allegedly had sexual relations. Grievant

asked Ms. Gomberg if he could install a "Spy Cam" at her house and asserted that he was working as a private investigator. After Ms. Gomberg sent Grievant an email expressing her discomfort with his behavior, Grievant informed her that everyone would think they had slept together. He made many other comments to her of an objectionable nature despite being told she was offended.

Substantial Evidence Contrary to This Finding:

Nowhere in Ms. Gomberg's testimony does she state the Grievant stared at her even once, in any way. The list provided of "objectionable" comments is in fact an extant list of the comments, and there were no "other" comments recited in Ms. Gomberg's testimony.

Finding of Fact #25:

Ms. Gomberg was offended, intimidated and embarrassed by Grievant relentless and unwanted attentions. She wanted to avoid him and eventually was reluctant to ask him for computer assistance when problems arose.

Substantial Evidence Contrary to This Finding:

Nowhere in Ms. Gomberg's testimony does she state that she was offended by the Grievant conduct. Nowhere in Ms. Gomberg's testimony does she state that she intimidated by the Grievant's conduct. Grievant concedes Ms. Neilson avoided asking for technical assistance, but at the Level 5 Hearing there was testimony of only one incident

of any of the Agency's witnesses actually receiving computer assistance from anyone other than the Grievant.

Finding of Fact #26:

Grievant asked Monica Hulbert (Ms. Hulbert) to go to lunch, coffee and dinner numerous times despite being told "no" every single time. Within the first week of her employment, he began asking her inappropriate and personal questions relating to her marital status and the father of her child. He repeatedly asked her unwelcomed and personal questions about what she did in her spare time, specifically if she went to clubs to drink and "party." He asked to drive her car. He asked Ms. Hulbert to massage his foot and persisted when she declined. He told Ms. Hulbert that he had been in jail, had cheated on his wife, was tracking a spouse who was suspected of being unfaithful, and had been incarcerated. He made many other comments of an offensive nature on a repeated basis to Ms. Hulbert despite being told she found them objectionable.

Substantial Evidence Contrary to This Finding:

Nowhere in Ms. Hulbert's testimony is there any mention of her being offended or that his words or conduct was offensive. In addition, the only use of the word "objectionable" during Ms. Hulbert's testimony was by the Agency's attorney in the following context:

Q. Were there other conversations that you found somewhat personal in that way or

any way objectionable?

A. There was a conversation about what I do on the weekends, if I go out to clubs drinking, partying, I guess, that sort of thing on the weekends, not too much more about-- you know, just a general question, I think, about if I had a boyfriend or where my ex-boyfriend was. That was about--in that area about it.

See Page 113, Lines 11-22.

Further, the Grievant never asked Ms. Hulbert to drive her car, and her testimony at the Level 5 Hearing made no reference to such a request.

Finding of Fact #27:

Ms. Hulbert was offended, intimidated and embarrassed by Grievant relentless and unwanted attentions. She wanted to avoid him and eventually was reluctant to ask him for computer assistance when problems arose.

Substantial Evidence Contrary to This Finding:

Nowhere in Ms. Hulbert's testimony at the Level 5 hearing did she state that the Grievant's words or actions offended her, intimidated her, or embarrassed her. Grievant concedes that Ms. Hulbert did state that was reluctant to ask the Grievant for computer assistance, but points out the she only on one occasion sought computer assistance from someone other than the Grievant. See Page 123 Line 6 -22.

Finding of Fact #28:

Grievant "ogled" Lindsay Nielson (Ms. Nielson) on her first day of work at DWS and continued to inappropriately "look her up and down." He repeatedly told her that she looked like a model even though she asked him to stop. He repeatedly asked her to lunch even though she told him "no." Grievant continually referred to Ms. Nielson's clothing as "Barbie doll sized" and on one occasion, touched her back to indicate where her "Barbie doll sized" sweater ended. He made many other comments of an offensive nature on a repeated basis to Ms. Nielson despite being told she found them objectionable.

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