2009

John M. Duran v. Department of Technology Services and Career Service Review Board: Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Counsel must remove himself or herself from the client’s shoes and fully assume the adversary’s position. In order to properly discharge the duty of marshaling the evidence, the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which *supports* the very findings the appellant resists. After constructing this magnificent array of supporting evidence, the challenger must ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence. The gravity of this flaw must be sufficient to convince the appellate court that the court’s finding resting upon the evidence is clearly erroneous.

Neely v. Bennett, 51 P.3d 724, 727-28 (Utah App. 2002) (quotation marks and citation omitted, emphasis in original); *West Valley v. Majestic Inv. Co.*, 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Utah App. 1991).

Duran has fallen well short of his obligation to marshal the evidence supporting the CSRB's decision. Instead, he "merely states those facts most favorable to his position and ignores the contrary evidence. This is not adequate." *Whitear v. Labor Comm'n*, 973 P.2d 983, 985 (Utah App. 1998).

In addition, Duran's challenges to the factual findings are largely semantic, constitute disagreements with the inferences to be drawn from the facts, or are simply not supported. For example, Duran argues that it is improper to call the witnesses who testified about their personal contact with him "complainants" because they never filed formal complaints against him. Besides being wrong, Duran's challenge is entirely beside the point. The record shows that the three co-workers reported Duran's behavior to supervisors and others. R. 000272, 274-275; R. 000669 pp. 31, 34-35, 41-42, 59, 202, 205, 210-211, 218. It also shows that they repeatedly asked Duran to cease the objectionable behavior. R. 000261, 275, 287. Although it is doubtful

that Duran would prefer the term “victims” instead of “complainants,” both terms fit the evidence here.⁵

This Court has made clear that factual findings will not be overturned “[e]ven if another conclusion from the evidence is permissible.” *Whitear*, 973 P.2d at 984; *Hurley v. Bd. of Review*, 767 P.2d 524, 526-27 (Utah 1998); see also *Crane v. Indus. Comm’n*, 97 Utah 244, 92 P.2d 722, 723 (Utah 1939) (court will not disturb reasonable inferences from the fact-finder). But that is exactly what Duran asks the Court to do. He challenges the findings that the co-workers felt threatened or intimidated because none actually used those terms in their testimony. But the Hearing Officer properly made that inference based on the testimony that Duran’s conduct was creepy, threatening, and that the co-workers were scared, overwhelmed, shocked, speechless, uncomfortable, embarrassed, and wanted to avoid Duran to the point that they were reluctant to ask him for computer assistance. See Statement of Facts and section I.B. below.

⁵ Like his defenses at Step 5 and 6, Duran’s challenge to some of the findings is shockingly cavalier. For example, in response to Nielson’s objection to being touched, Duran unabashedly remarks that she likely has “body issues.” Aplt’s Brief at 30. See also *Decision and Final Agency Action* at p. 20 n. 16, R. 000669-668; *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decision* at p. 32-33, R. 000254-297.

Accordingly, on the basis of Duran's failure to marshal alone, this Court should hold that the CSRB's factual findings are conclusive. *See Whitear*, 973 P.2d at 985. This Court has no reluctance to affirm based only on a failure to marshal. *Id.* And this Court should affirm the CSRB's determination that DTS's decision to terminate Duran's employment was not an abuse of discretion.

B. Substantial evidence supported DTS's decision.

Substantial evidence supported DTS's decision to terminate Duran's employment. Substantial evidence is "more than a mere 'scintilla' of evidence and something less than the weight of the evidence." *Johnson v. Bd. of Review of Indus. Comm'n*, 842 P.2d 910, 911 (Utah App. 1992). Substantial evidence⁶ is "that quantum and quality of relevant evidence that is adequate to convince a reasonable mind to support a conclusion." *Larson Limestone Co. v. State*, 903 P.2d 429, 430 (Utah 1995) (citation and quotation marks omitted).

⁶ The CSRB defines substantial evidence to be "evidence possessing something of substance and relevant consequence, and which furnishes substantial basis of fact from which issues tendered can be reasonably resolved. It is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, but is less than a preponderance." Utah Admin. Code R137-1-2.

Although not DTS's burden, some of the many facts supporting DTS's decision to terminate Duran's employment are listed below:

- Duran repeatedly invited co-workers to lunch or coffee after the invitations were refused, and he was asked to stop.
- Duran constantly asked offensive personal questions about co-worker's lives and physical intimacy.
- Duran offered to set up a spy camera in a co-worker's home and continued the conversation despite being told it was creepy.
- Duran made comments about co-workers' body types and the physical attributes that he found personally attractive.
- Duran inappropriately touched a co-worker's back.
- Duran asked a co-worker for a massage and continued to do so even after being told "no" and in front of another employee.
- His co-workers asked him to stop his behavior again and again, but to no avail.
- Duran was the only computer service worker for DWS's Woods Cross Office.
- Duran's office was across the hall from the women's restroom, making it difficult for female co-workers to avoid going near his office.
- Co-workers became reluctant to ask Duran for computer help because they did not want to interact with him.
- Duran was aware of DHRM rules and DTS policies.

- Duran’s conduct made the work environment threatening and intimidating.

Moreover, credibility counts. Credibility assessments will not be overturned on appeal because the fact-finder is in the best position to make those assessments. *See, e.g., State v. Daniels*, 2002 UT 2, ¶ 18, 40 P.3d 611; *Renegade Oil, Inc. v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.*, 2004 UT App. 356, ¶ 10, 101 P.3d 383. The Hearing Officer noted that Duran’s “testimony was self-serving at best. Very little of it, if any seemed credible.” *Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decision* at p. 32, R. 000254-297. The Utah Supreme Court has long recognized that one credible witness is enough to support a factual finding. *See, e.g., Valiotis v. Utah Apex Mining Co.*, 55 Utah 151, 184 P. 802, 810 (Utah 1919). Here, substantial evidence supported DTS’s decision to end Duran’s state employment. This Court should affirm.

C. DTS’s decision to terminate Duran’s employment was not an abuse of discretion.

Because substantial evidence supported DTS’s allegations against Duran, its decision to fire him need only be a valid exercise of discretion. An agency abuses its discretion only when it reaches an outcome that is “clearly

against the logic and the effect of such facts as are presented in support of the application, or against the reasonable and probable deductions to be drawn from the facts disclosed upon the hearing.” *Sorge*, 2006 UT App. 2 at ¶ 22 (quoting *Tolman v. Salt Lake County Attorney*, 818 P.2d 23, 26 (Utah App. 1991)). In other words, if “reasonable minds might differ as to the propriety of the penalty imposed, this fact serves to fortify the conclusion that the [administrative body] acted within the area of its discretion.” *Utah Dep’t of Corr. v. Despain*, 824 P.2d 439, 448 (Utah App. 1991) (quoting *Szmeciarz v. Cal. State Personnel Bd.*, 79 Cal.App.3d 904, 405-06 (1978)) (alteration in original).

Here, DTS was well within the bounds of its discretion to dismiss Duran. His behavior compromised DTS’s ability to serve its customers. DWS employees tried to solve computer problems on their own or asked others to help them, compromising DWS’s ability to do its work. And, even if the CSRB or this Court might have chosen a different form of discipline, DTS did not abuse its discretion when it chose termination as the appropriate penalty.

D. Termination of Duran's employment can be affirmed based solely on Duran's attempts to dissuade a co-worker from putting her concerns about his behavior in writing.

This Court can affirm the CSRB's decision based only on Duran's attempt to prevent Gomberg from detailing her objections to his conduct in writing. Even if this Court were to ignore all of the other evidence supporting DTS's decision to terminate Duran's employment, his conduct in this instance is more than enough to support his dismissal from state employment.

DHRM rules provide that agency management may discipline any employee for "(a) noncompliance with these rules, agency or other applicable policy, including but not limited to . . . agency professional standards, standards of conduct and workplace policies. Utah Admin. Code R477-11-(1)(a). *See also* Addendum C (providing the text of the relevant DHRM and DTS rules and policies). DTS's code of conduct states that "Employees shall treat their fellow employees respectfully and professionally." R. 000672 Ex. A-15 p 2. DTS employees "shall not engage in unprofessional conduct on . . . the job that compromises the ability of the employee or agency to fulfill professional responsibilities." R. 000672 Ex. A-15 p 4. DTS Policy Code of Conduct, Section 1.2.1.3.2.4. DTS policy also provides that "Employees shall use non-abusive, respectful, and decent language (this prohibits any . . .

activity that is demeaning, belittling, or knowingly offensive to other employees.)” *Id.* at section 1.2.1.2.1.3. R. 000672 Ex. A-15 p 3. And finally, agency management may discipline any employee for “(e) misfeasance, malfeasance, nonfeasance or failure to advance the good of public service.” Utah Admin. Code R477-11-(1)(e).

The record evidence shows that Gomberg told Duran that she was going to put her concerns about his conduct in writing. Upon hearing this, Duran became agitated. He told her that she should not do that because: 1) a copy of the letter would be placed in *her* personnel file and prevent *her* from being hired elsewhere; 2) that he would retaliate and file a false discrimination complaint against her; and 3) that everyone in the office, including management, would think that they had had sexual relations. R. 000669 pp. 39-40. Duran does not challenge those facts, and he neglected to mention them in his brief.

As the CRSB noted, “Mr. Duran’s conduct in this regard can only be described as intimidating, threatening, disrespectful and unprofessional.” R. 000657-658. Duran’s conduct erodes any semblance of workplace trust and disrupts the employees’ work, the work of DTS, and that of DWS. The conduct is in clear violation of DHRM and DTS rules and policies not only governing professionalism and respect, but those proscribing activity that is

demeaning, belittling, or knowingly offensive to other employees. Even in its best light, the conduct was clearly inappropriate and patently offensive under any professional standards or in any work environment.

That conduct standing alone is sufficient ground for this Court to affirm the CRSB's decision to uphold Duran's termination.

II. The CRSB's decision to allow Duran's prior corrective action plan into evidence was not reversible error.

Utah law is clear that an "erroneous decision to admit or exclude evidence does not constitute reversible error unless the error is harmful." *Jones v. Cyprus Plateau Mining Corp.*, 944 P.2d 357, 360 (Utah 1997) (quoting *Joufflas v. Fox Television Stations, Inc.*, 927 P.2d 170, 173 (Utah 1996)). Harmful error occurs where "the likelihood of a different outcome in the absence of the error is 'sufficiently high so as to undermine confidence in the [final decision].'" *Id.* (quotation omitted). Here, Duran's 2003 corrective action plan (CAP) was properly admitted into evidence as part of his established employment history, but even if the CAP should have been excluded, any error was harmless.

A. Res judicata does not bar admission of the 2003 CAP.

Res judicata, in the form of issue preclusion, does not apply to exclude the 2003 CAP from evidence. Issue preclusion bars re-litigation of issues decided in a prior action and applies only when: 1) the issue challenged in the current case is identical to the issue decided in the prior case; 2) the issues was decided in a final judgment on the merits; 3) the issue was competently, fully, and fairly litigated; and 4) the party against whom issue preclusion is invoked must have been a party or in privity to a party in the first action. *Macris & Assocs., Inc. v. Neways, Inc.*, 2000 UT 93, ¶ 37, 16 P.3d 1214. Here, except for the identity of parties, none of the other elements are present.

First, the challenged issues are not identical. DTS's decision to terminate Duran's employment was not based on the allegations and facts supporting to the prior, withdrawn letter of reprimand or the CAP. Instead, DTS's decision hinged on Duran's conduct beginning in 2004. DTS never tried to re-litigate prior alleged discipline or misconduct.⁷

⁷ DTS agreed that a January 29, 2003 intent to reprimand and March 28, 2003 letter of reprimand should be excluded from evidence because the Department of Workforce Services withdrew the letter of reprimand and the CSRB dismissed Duran's appeal of the letter of reprimand, by order dated June 12, 2003, based on the agency's decision to withdraw the discipline.

Second, the prior action neither resulted in a final judgment on the merits, nor were any of the issues competently, fully, or fairly litigated. A judgment is not “on the merits” if it represents a decision on some point other than the issues of law and fact that “must be disposed of in order to determine whether the parties have good claims or defenses under the applicable substantive law.” *Bailey v. Desert Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n*, 701 P.2d 803, 804 (Utah 1985) (citing *Thompson-Hayward Chemical Co. v. Cyprus Mines Corp.*, 660 P.2d 973, 976 (Kan. 1983)).

Here, DWS voluntarily dismissed the prior CSRB case because it withdrew Duran’s discipline and chose instead to put Duran on a CAP. In issuing the Order Dismissing Appeal, the CSRB had no authority to prevent the agency from pursuing other discipline or corrective action based on the facts justifying the rescinded written reprimand. The CSRB lacks jurisdiction to review corrective action, having only limited jurisdiction over personnel matters. Utah Code Ann. § 67-19a-202 (1) (a); *see also* Utah Code Ann. § 67-19a-302 (detailing what matters an employee may take to the CSRB). Thus, it follows that the CSRB cannot order an agency to issue or withhold corrective action, and accordingly, there was never any adjudication “on the merits.” *See, e.g., SMP, Inc. v. Kirkman*, 843 P.2d 531, 533 (Utah App. 1992) (industrial commission lacked jurisdiction to review contract claim

directly and therefore res judicata inapplicable). Nor did the CSRB determine any facts or make any decision on whether the letter of reprimand or the CAP were appropriate. Accordingly, res judicata does not bar DTS from introducing the CAP into evidence.

B. CSRB rule specifically allows admission of the prior CAP.

It is well-settled that evidence of prior disciplinary action is appropriate for consideration at the CSRB. Two basic issues are before the CSRB: first, whether the agency's factual allegations are supported by substantial evidence; and second, whether the agency's chosen disciplinary sanction is "excessive, disproportionate or otherwise constitutes an abuse of discretion." *See* Utah Admin. Code R137-1-21(3)(a), (b).

Duran's established employment history is relevant and necessary to the analysis of the second issue—the propriety of the chosen disciplinary sanction. The administrative rules governing the CSRB explicitly provide that "the past employment record of the employee is relevant for purposes of either mitigating or sustaining the penalty when substantial evidence supports an agency's allegations." Utah Admin. Code R137-1-21(9).

In addition, administrative rules governing the human resource department provide that "when deciding the specific type and severity of

discipline, the agency head or representative may consider the following factors: . . . prior disciplinary/corrective actions; . . . previous oral warnings, written warnings and discussions; . . . [and] the employee's past work record." Utah Admin. Code R477-11-3(1)(e), (f), (g). *See also* Addendum C. Thus, all evidence touching on an employee's past work record, including disciplinary actions, is admissible. The 2003 CAP was part of Duran's documented work history and was admissible. The CSRB correctly refused to exclude it from evidence.

C. Any error in the CAP's admission into evidence was harmless.

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